THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
The Honorable T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

APR 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. File No. 1112328
Appellate Case No. 2019-001357

Samuel Rose, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

JJS Trucking, Uninsured Employer; and
Chris Thompson Services, Upstream Employer; and
Bridgefield Casualty Insurance Co. and
South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund, Carriers;

of which the South Carolina Uninsured Employers'
Fund is the

Appellant,

and

JJS Trucking, LLC, Uninsured Employer, and
Chris Thompson Services, Upstream Employer, and
Bridgefield Casualty Insurance Co. are the

Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. Did the Workers' Compensation Commission err as a matter of law in addressing the Claimant's entitlement to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 on remand when no issue regarding these statutes was preserved for review?
- II. Does the June 24, 2019 Order of the Commission violate the Appellants' constitutional rights of due process and equal protection?
- III. Must the Commission's award under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 be reversed by the Court of Appeals on the basis that it is not supported by substantial evidence or the applicable law?
- IV. Must the Commission's award under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 and § 42-9-260 be reversed on the basis that it is not supported by substantial evidence or the applicable law?
- V. Does the Commission's failure to address the implications of the Claimant's subsequent, intervening accidents constitute reversible legal error?

Statement of the Case

On November 18, 2011, the Claimant filed a Form 50 alleging various injuries by accident on August 20, 2011. (R. p.4). The Form 50 named the Claimant's direct employer, JJS Trucking, LLC, and its upstream contractor, Chris Thompson Services, LLC, as Defendants in the claim. The Appellants, Chris Thompson Services and Bridgefield Casualty, timely denied the claim by Form 51 and also filed a Petition to

Transfer Liability to the South Carolina Uninsured Employers Fund (UEF) on January 24, 2012. (R. pp.94–97).

A hearing was held in Summerville, South Carolina on May 15, 2012 before Commissioner Gene McCaskill. (R. pp.310–327). Following that hearing, Commissioner McCaskill issued a Decision and Order dated August 23, 2012, where he found and concluded, *inter alia*, that the “Claimant is entitled to an evaluation to determine the extent of his injuries and is entitled to ongoing medical treatment as prescribed by an authorized treating physician to be selected by the carrier” and “the issue of transfer of responsibility to the UEF is not ripe for adjudication at this time.” (R. p.19, p.21).

The Appellants, Chris Thompson Services and Bridgefield Casualty filed a Form 30, seeking review and reversal of Commissioner McCaskill’s Decision and Order by the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s Appellate Panel. (R. pp.15–17). On May 15, 2013, the Appellate Panel issued an Order summarily affirming Commissioner McCaskill’s conclusion that the Petition for Transfer of Liability was “not ripe for adjudication,” without any discussion. (R. pp.12–22). The Appellants appealed the May 15, 2013 Order of the Workers’ Compensation Commission to the Court of Appeals, arguing that the Commission erred as a matter of law in concluding that the Petition to transfer continuing liability to the UEF pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 was “not ripe,” based upon the undisputed evidence in the record and the applicable law. By Order dated January 28, 2015, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as interlocutory. (R. pp.44–47).

Following Hearing Commissioner McCaskill's August 23, 2012 Decision and Order, the Appellants provided medical treatment and temporary total disability compensation as required. (R. p.244). The authorized treating physician, Dr. Gregory M. Jones, placed the Claimant at maximum medical improvement on March 20, 2013. (R. p.392). His diagnosis was "myofascial pain," with an underlying "multi-level degenerative, preexistent pathology" in his neck and back. (R. p.391). According to a report dated April 16, 2013, Dr. Jones opined that the Claimant was "capable of working without restrictions" and "should be able to return to gainful employment at any job that he desires." (R. p.392). Dr. Jones further opined that "[i]t does not appear that any future treatment would be warranted." (R. p.392).

Upon the Claimant's release at maximum medical improvement, the Appellants filed a Form 21, Stop Payment Application, requesting permission to terminate temporary total disability compensation. (R. p.99). The Stop Payment Application was scheduled for a hearing before Workers' Compensation Hearing Commissioner Aisha Taylor on September 23, 2013 in St. Matthews, South Carolina. (R. p.328—385). After the hearing before Hearing Commissioner Taylor, but before a decision was rendered (November 8, 2013), the Appellants learned for the first time that the Claimant had an ongoing third-party claim arising out of the August 10, 2011 accident pending in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. The Claimant did not notify the Appellants, or the Commission, of his pending civil claim or otherwise file a Form S-2, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560.

On November 12, 2013, immediately after learning of the long-concealed third-party claim, the Appellants filed a Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence, specifically

the Claimant's pleadings in connection with the third-party claim he filed in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas eight months earlier on February 20, 2013. (R. pp.104–107). The Appellants argued that this newly discovered evidence was relevant to the determination of the issues pending before Commissioner Taylor because the Claimant did not file a Form S-2 with the Workers' Compensation Commission, the Employer, or the Carrier within thirty days after filing his third-party claim. As a result, the Appellants argued that the Claimant is not entitled to additional benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act as a matter of law for failure to comply with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560.

The Claimant did not file a return¹ to the Appellants' Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence. The Appellants' Motion was granted by Administrative Order dated January 3, 2014 and the Claimant's third-party pleadings were admitted into evidence and made part of the record in this case. (R. p.23). The Claimant then filed a Motion to Introduce New Evidence into the record. Hearing Commissioner Taylor denied the Claimant's Motion by Administrative Order dated January 3, 2014 on the basis that the evidence the Claimant sought to introduce was not "of the same nature and character required for granting a new trial" as required by S.C. Code Reg. 67-707(C) and S.C.R.C.P. Rules 59 and 60.² (R. p.27).

On September 2, 2014, Commissioner Taylor issued a Decision and Order, by

¹ The Claimant did file a "Motion in Opposition to Introduce After Discovered Evidence." The Claimant's Motion was denied by Administrative Order dated January 3, 2014. (R. p.25).

² The Claimant did not appeal this January 3, 2014 Administrative Order to the Court of Appeals.

which she concluded that the Claimant failed to satisfy the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560. (R. pp.20–42). Commissioner Taylor further granted the Appellants’ Stop Payment Application, concluding that the Appellants were entitled to terminate temporary disability pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-210 and § 42-9-260. In addition, Commissioner Taylor concluded that the Claimant is not entitled to any additional medical care or treatment under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60, or benefits for permanent disability or loss of use under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10, § 42-9-20, or § 42-9-30. (R. pp.20–42).

Thereafter, the Claimant filed a Form 30 requesting the Commission’s Appellate Panel review Commissioner Taylor’s September 2, 2014 Order; however, the only exceptions raised related to “newly discovered evidence” and the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560. (R. p.117–120). The Claimant raised no exception to the remainder of the Hearing Commissioner’s Conclusions of Law. Similarly, the Claimant raised no argument with regard to Commissioner Taylor’s denial of benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 in his brief to the Appellate Panel. In fact, the Claimant did not even mention these statutes in his Form 30 or in his brief to the Appellate Panel. (R. p.117–120; p.121-135). Therefore, the Appellants argued that the Commissioner’s conclusions of law with regard to the Claimant’s entitlement to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 are the law of the case and is not subject to review by the Appellate Panel or the Courts. (R. pp.137–148).

After oral arguments in Columbia on April 21, 2015, an Appellate Panel issued the Commission’s Decision and Order dated February 8, 2016, affirming the Decision and

Order of Commissioner Taylor in its entirety. (R. pp.48–57). The Claimant appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (R. p.150). In his 2016 brief to the Court of Appeals, the Claimant again failed to raise any argument with respect to (or even mention) the Commission’s conclusions of law pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30. (R. pp.162–185).

The Court of Appeals decided the case, without oral arguments, by unpublished decision dated April 18, 2018. (R. pp.58–60). The April 18, 2018 Order from the Court of Appeals merely states, “[w]e reverse the Appellate Panel’s order and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.” (R. p.60). The Order of the Court of Appeals says nothing of awarding the Claimant medical or compensation benefits and does not purport to expand the Appellate Panel’s jurisdiction on appeal, vested by virtue of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50 and the Claimant’s Form 30. Of course, the April 18, 2018, Court of Appeals opinion dealt solely with the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560, as the Claimant similarly made no argument with regard to his entitlement to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 to the Court of Appeals.

Following remand and Remittitur dated July 5, 2018, the Workers’ Compensation Commission reassigned the claim to Commissioner Taylor by Administrative Order dated July 16, 2018. (R. p.62; p.63). Approximately nine months after the Remittitur, Commissioner Taylor scheduled the matter for a new hearing on May 8, 2019. (R. p.254). Prior to the scheduled hearing, Commissioner Taylor held a telephone conference with some of the parties on April 25, 2019³, at which time counsel for the Claimant asked

³ JJS Trucking, the Claimant’s Employer, is not represented by counsel and did not

Commissioner Taylor to recuse herself. (R. pp.247–253). Commissioner Taylor did not address the informal motion to recuse at that time, but did agree to cancel the May 8, 2019 hearing, as it was unnecessary to re-open the record to address the issues on remand. On April 29, 2019, Commissioner Taylor’s office officially noticed a “Postponement” of the May 8, 2019 hearing, indicating that she would rule on the existing record. (R. p.254). A month later, on May 31, 2019, Commissioner Taylor notified the parties via e-mail that she was recusing herself from the case and sending it back to the Commission’s Appellate Panel for review. (R. p.256).

The Appellate Panel did receive additional evidence or arguments from the parties in 2019. Instead, the Appellate Panel simply issued a new Decision and Order June 17, 2019⁴ awarding extraordinary benefits to the Claimant. (R. pp.64–76). The Appellate Panel then issued a second Order dated June 24, 2017; however, did not withdraw the prior Order of June 17, 2019. (R. pp.77–90). Both Orders, *sua motu*, addressed the credibility of expert witnesses and “found” that the Claimant both requires additional medical treatment for the August 10, 2011 accident at the present time and has been totally disabled “from August 11, 2011 through the present and continuing.” The Appellate Panel awarded the Claimant a “lump-sum payment of any back-owed TTD accrued during litigation,” totaling approximately \$136,935.44. In addition, the Appellate Panel stripped the Appellants of their statutory right to direct and control the provision of medical treatment, appointed the Claimant’s IME doctor his authorized treating physician, and

participate the in the telephone conference with Commissioner Taylor.

⁴ The June 17, 2019 Order, on its face, was missing pages and contained no conclusions of law. (R. pp.64–76).

ordered the Appellants to pay for a cervical fusion surgery, any “future treatment with Dr. Poletti or any referral made by Dr. Poletti for Claimant’s neck or back injuries,” and “an evaluation with an orthopaedic surgeon who specializes in the knee/lower extremity to obtain updated MRI scans and an assessment of the Claimant’s continued complaints of pain in his right knee.”

The Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider the June 17, 2019 Order on June 21, 2019. (R. pp.257–277). The Appellants filed a second Motion to Reconsider the June 24, 2019 Order on June 24, 2019. (R. pp.278–309). These Motions were denied by Order dated July 15, 2019 and the present appeal ensued. (R. p.91). The Claimant’s third-party claim against the at-fault driver in the August 11, 2011 accident is remains pending in the Court of Common Pleas.

Standards of Review

Appeals from the Workers’ Compensation Commission are governed generally by the Administrative Procedures Act. Lark v. BiLo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Accordingly, a reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact; however, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the Commission if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Clemmons v. Lowe’s Home Centers, 420 S.C. 282, 803 S.E.2d 268 (2017 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-3480(5))).

In accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, the *factual findings* of the Commission may be set aside if they are “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record,” or “arbitrary or capricious or

characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-380(A)(6)(e), -380(6)(f); see Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp., 320 S.C. 515, 519, 466 S.E.2d 357, 359 (1996) (citing Kearse v. State Health & Hum. Servs. Fin. Comm’n, 318 S.C. 198, 200, 456 S.E.2d 892, 893 (1995)). “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed from one side, but such evidence, when the whole record is considered, as would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the [Commission] reached.” Shealy v. Aiken County, 241 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). While the Commission’s factual findings will normally be upheld, such a finding may not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it. Tiller v. Nat’l Health Care Ctr. of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 339, 513 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1999); Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 282, 519 S.E.2d 583, 591 (Ct. App. 1999); Sharpe v. Case Produce Co., 329 S.C. 534, 543, 495 S.E.2d 790, 794 (Ct. App. 1997), *rev’d on other grounds*, 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999).

However, the standard of review of *legal issues* is far different. A reviewing court may reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if substantial rights of an appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are affected by other error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5)(d) (Supp. 2006); Porter v. Labor Depot, 372 S.C. 560, 567, 643 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2007), *cert. denied*, Dec. 5, 2007; Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005); Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc., 353 S.C. 339, 344, 577 S.E.2d 475, 477 (Ct. App. 2003), *aff’d as modified*, 357 S.C. 619, 594 S.E.2d 272 (2004). In fact, citing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 and South Carolina Constitution, Article V,

Section 5, our Supreme Court has held that a reviewing court may decide novel questions of law with “no particular deference to the lower court.” Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006); Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000). Therefore, a reviewing court may freely and absolutely review the Commission’s decisions concerning an issue of law. See Lizee v. S.C. Dep’t of Mental Health, 367 S.C. 122, 126, 623 S.E.2d 860, 863 (Ct. App. 2005) (“where the Commission’s decision is controlled by an error of law, this court’s review is plenary”).

“No passivity or complaisance is owed or given to the ruling of the appellate panel or circuit judge in this context. The highly deferential standards statutorily and universally applied in reviewing issues of fact, such as the ‘clearly erroneous’ and the ‘manifest error’ standards, have no efficacy in regard to an issue of law.”

Houston v. Deloach & Deloach, 663 S.E.2d 85, 378 S.C. 543 (Ct. App. 2008) (*internal citations omitted*). Further, this Court has specifically held that, “[t]he South Carolina Court of Appeals exercises freedom and independence in deciding an issue of law in a workers’ compensation case.” Thompson ex rel. Harvey v. Cisson Const. Co., 659 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 2008).

Furthermore, where the issue before the Commission involves a *jurisdictional question*, a reviewing court is governed by the preponderance of evidence standard. Hernandez Zuniga v. Tickle, 374 S.C. 235, 647 S.E.2d 691 (Ct. App. 2007).

Consequently, a reviewing court is not bound by the Commission's findings of fact on which jurisdiction is based. Canady v. Charleston County Sch. Dist., 265 S.C. 21, 25, 216 S.E.2d 755, 757 (1975). A reviewing court has both the power and duty to review the entire record, find jurisdictional facts without regard to conclusions of the Commission on the issue, and decide the jurisdictional question in accord with the preponderance of evidence. Id.; *see also* Kirksey v. Assurance Tire Co., 314 S.C. 43, 45, 443 S.E.2d 803, 804 (1994) (holding this court can find facts in accordance with the preponderance of evidence when determining a jurisdictional question in a Workers' Compensation case); Sanders v. Litchfield Country Club, 297 S.C. 339, 342, 377 S.E.2d 111, 113 (Ct.App.1989) (deciding where a jurisdictional issue is raised, this court must review record and make its own determination whether the preponderance of evidence supports the Commission's factual findings bearing on that issue).

Lastly, no court may review or otherwise disturb unappealed findings or conclusions by the Commission. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (holding that "an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case" and citing Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 160-61, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970)); Creech v. Ducane Co., 320 S.C. 559, 476 S.E.2d 114, *reh'g denied, cert. denied* (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50 provides the procedure for appealing a Hearing Commissioner's Order; however, "only issues within the application are preserved for the full Commission"). According to Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2s 712 (1940), all findings of fact and law by the Commission "become and are the law of the case, except only those within the scope of the exception." The question of compliance with rules, regulations, and statutes

governing an appeal is one of appellate jurisdiction. Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assoc., 394 S.C. 185, 714 S.E.2d 547 (2011); *see also Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649 (2006) (holding that although the family court erred in rejecting Custodian’s request for an evidentiary hearing, the Custodian failed to appeal the family court’s ruling that the Custodian “is dismissed as a party,” rendering that ruling the law of the case and requiring affirmation of the family court’s order).

Arguments

- I. **No argument under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 was preserved for review and; therefore, the Commission erred as a matter of law in addressing these statutes on remand.**

By Order dated September 2, 2014, Commissioner Taylor concluded that the Claimant failed to satisfy the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560. (R. p.40 #3). In addition, Commissioner Taylor specifically ruled that the Appellants were entitled to terminate temporary disability pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 and § 42-9-210; that the Claimant is not entitled to any additional medical treatment under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60; and that the Claimant is not entitled any benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-10, 42-9-20, and 42-9-30. (R. p.40). The Claimant appealed Hearing Commissioner Taylor’s conclusion regarding the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 to the Commission’s Appellate Panel. (R. pp.118—119). However, the Claimant’s Form 30 dated September 14, 2014 raised no argument with respect to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 and elucidated no question as to the Hearing

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