THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

WCC File No. 1112328
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001357

RECEIVED
JAN 15 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Samuel Rose, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

JJS Trucking, LLC, Uninsured Employer, and Chris Thompson Services, Upstream Employer,
and Bridgefield Casualty Ins. Co., Carrier for Chris Thompson Services, and The State Accident
Fund, Appellants

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Attorney for Respondent

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

⁹To the extent Appellants’ contend the IME with Dr. Jones complied with the 2012 Order, the report shows Dr. Jones gave no opinions or recommendations regarding treatment for the right knee.

¹⁰Rose requested treatment for the right knee in his opening statement at the September 23, 2013 hearing. [R.P. 244, line 2-page 245, line 11].

Appellants, page 28]. Appellants are appealing an order from a case tried on September 23, 2013. Evaluation and treatment for the right knee was originally ordered by Commissioner McCaskill following a hearing on May 23, 2012. [8/23/12 order, page 8, Finding of Facts 2 and 6]. Appellants ignored that order and elected to appeal a peripheral issue rather than providing treatment and mitigating their damages. Following the September 23, 2013 hearing, they filed a motion to dismiss the case on another peripheral issue, necessitating an appeal from Rose and reversal by this Court. The record may be old – not because Rose abandoned any issue, but because Appellants have pulled out the stops to delay and deny accepting any responsibility for Rose’s welfare.

The Court should affirm.

D. Low Back.

The Commission found Dr. Poletti should be the authorized provider for Rose’s lumbar spine treatment. [Order, page 11, Finding of Fact 16]. Appellants appeal this issue on the same grounds they appealed the award of treatment for the knee.

In its 2012 orders, the Commission had previously found as a fact that Rose injured his back (separately from the injury to his neck). [5/15/13 Order, page 8, Finding of Fact 2]. Appellants refused to provide treatment. Dr. Poletti observed that Rose had never been provided a lumbar spine MRI despite severe pain into his back, limited range of motion, and a positive straight leg raising test on the right. He opined “This man . . . requires further MRI imaging of his lumbar spine. . . .” [R.P. 108]. The lumbar MRI *is treatment* as it is necessary to determine specifically what is causing Rose’s pain and what modalities are necessary to treat it. It makes no sense for an employer to deny treatment because there is no MRI scan, when the MRI scan ordered by an orthopaedic surgeon could not be done because the employer refused to provide it.

And while there may be evidence that Rose may not need additional lumbar treatment for his

spine, this merely creates a conflict in the evidence which must necessarily be resolved by the Commission. The Court should affirm the order to provide evaluation and treatment for Rose's lumbar spine as directed by Dr. Poletti.

E. Blanket Award.

Appellants argument against providing medical treatment veers into farce when they posit that "if Dr. Poletti recommends Hemlock injections in Timbuktu on a lark 20 years from now, the Appellants are 'liable for' this treatment under the terms of the Commission's June 24, 2019 Order." [Brief of Appellants, page 30]. This resort to *reductio ad absurdem* is transparently flawed.

Under our law, the employer has *never* had the unfettered right to direct or control medical treatment. The employer merely has the right to select the attending physician. Once that selection is made, the employer is required to provide "any medical care or treatment that is *considered necessary by the attending physician*, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (A)(2007). The plain language of the statute shows that it is the doctor, not the insurance adjuster, who directs and controls the medical treatment. The same rule applies whether the employer chose the attending physician or, as here, where the employer failed to provide treatment forcing the Commission to choose the attending physician.

This Court dispensed with a similar argument in Risinger v. Knight Textiles. In Risinger, the employee had been awarded lifetime medical treatment with the doctor chosen by the employer. When the doctor referred Knight to another doctor, the employer refused to provide treatment, instead requesting a second opinion. The case went to a hearing, where the Commission refused to allow the second opinion and required the employer to continue providing the treatment recommended by the attending physician. The employer appealed on the grounds that it was error to find "it was no longer entitled to control Risinger's medical treatment pursuant to § 42-15-60."

The Court disagreed and affirmed the Commission. The Court reasoned “Under Knight’s interpretation of the statute, the employer/carrier would be able to continue to seek a new doctor’s opinion each time it did not like the opinion of the claimant’s doctor. This would allow the employer/carrier to “shop around” indefinitely until it found a favorable opinion, often sacrificing much needed treatment. We do not believe this result was intended by the legislature.” Risinger v. Knight Textiles, 353 S.C. 69, 577 S.E.2d 222 (Ct. App. 2002).

The Rice case cited by Appellants is on a different issue, specifically whether an order is sufficiently detailed for appellate review. In Rice, the Commission’s order obligated the employer to pay “for such medical costs as will hereafter be incurred by claimant for medical services rendered by the Durham Rehabilitation Center.” Rice v. Froehling & Robertson, Inc., 226 S.E.2d 705, 267 S.C. 155 (1976). The court affirmed the bulk of the order awarding specific medical treatment (two operations), but remanded the case to the Commission to make a more definitive order as to the Durham Rehabilitation Center.

In the instant case, the order is quite specific as to the various modalities which must be provided (right knee evaluation; cervical spine surgery; MRI of the lumbar spine). Should a dispute over treatment arise in the future, Appellants have the ability to petition the Commission to order a change in treatment upon a showing of good cause – as this right applies equally to both parties. It does not mean that they can *refuse* to provide treatment, as they would then run afoul of the statute providing sanctions for “wilful disobedience of an order.” See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-175 (2007)(allowing claimant to bring an action before the commission to enforce an order authorizing medical treatment and providing for attorney’s fees and costs for an employer who “without good cause, failed to authorize medical treatment and/or pay benefits when ordered to do so by the commission . . .”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-150 (2007)(“Any failure to obey an order of the

commission may be punished as a contempt thereof.”).

No matter how unhappy Appellants may be at the prospect of providing much needed treatment to an injured worker who has gone without relief for the better part of a decade, the simple fact is the Commission acted within its authority in requiring them to do so. By the same token, the Commission properly required Appellants to provide “any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician,” which in this case is Dr. Poletti. We know Dr. Poletti isn’t really going to refer Rose to a hemlock provider in Timbuktu. He is going to do exactly what he said he would do in his report: operate on Rose’s cervical spine, order an MRI for the lumbar spine, and provide the necessary followup for Rose to find relief from his pain, become more functional, and – hopefully – less disabled. This is all to the good.

4. The award of ongoing temporary total disability compensation is legally correct and supported by the evidence [in Response to Appellants’ argument at pages 31-36].

Appellants raise several arguments contesting the Commission award of “temporary total disability benefits from August 11, 2011 through the present and continuing until he is placed at maximum medical improvement. Claimant is entitled to a lump-sum payment of any back-owed TTD accrued during litigation.” [Brief of Appellants, pages 31-32; order page 12, Finding of Fact 18]. There are two components to this award which will be dealt with separately.

A. Ongoing temporary total disability compensation.

The Commission originally ordered ongoing compensation to be paid in Rose I. In the first set of orders, the Commission ordered that Appellants “shall pay for Claimant’s medical treatment and temporary total disability benefits beginning August 10, 2011 and continuing through such time Claimant is able to return to work.” [5/13/13 Order, page 10]. Once their appeal in Rose I had been dismissed as interlocutory, Appellants began paying TTD. Appellants then obtained the opinion

from Dr. Jones that Rose had reached MMI and was able to return to work, Appellants filed a Form 21 (Employer's Request for Hearing) seeking an order stopping compensation. [Form 21].

This led to the instant hearing on September 23, 2013. The merits were not ruled on until the order of June 24, 2019 due to the appeal in Rose II. When the Commission did rule, it found Appellants failed to prove Rose had reached MMI. As such, there was no legal basis on which to terminate temporary compensation and make an award for permanent disability. See Curiel v. Envtl. Mgmt. Servs. (MS), 376 S.C. 23, 655 S.E.2d 482 (2007)(“Essentially, workers’ compensation benefits accrue along a time continuum: temporary total disability benefits are available from the date of injury through the date of [MMI]; post-MMI benefits may then be awarded either as a permanent total or partial disability, or as a percentage of impairment to a scheduled member.”). The previous order remained effective.

Appellants also contend Rose failed to prove his entitlement to ongoing compensation. This argument fails. Dr. Poletti opined Rose “is on off-duty status . . .” [R.p. 108]. This is express proof of ongoing disability. Furthermore, the regulations provide “Disability is presumed to continue until the employee returns to work or compensation is otherwise suspended or terminated according to Section 42-9-260.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-502 (B)(2)(2011).

Appellants argue that there is no proof of ongoing disability because the record was closed on January 3, 2014. While it is true that the record was closed, the existing record shows Rose is on off duty status and is not at MMI. Appellants always had the option of providing treatment to bring him to MMI, yet understandably preferred to rely on the dismissal on collateral grounds they obtained in Rose II. Once this Court reinstated Rose’s claim and remanded for the belated decision on the merits, Appellants reaped the consequences of their over aggressive trial strategy.

Appellants further argue that Rose is barred from receiving compensation because he “must

make ‘reasonable efforts to secure employment’ in order to satisfy his burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-210.” [Brief of Appellants, page 36]. The identical argument was rejected by this Court in Lee v. Bondex, 406 S.C. 97, 749 S.E.2d 155 (Ct. App. 2013). The Court explained:

[Employer argues that] a claimant must go into the marketplace and seek from other employers a job that does not conflict with his work restrictions. We disagree. This is not a claim for permanent disability compensation. For temporary disability benefits, a claimant must prove only that work restrictions prevent him from performing the job he had before the injury, and that his current employer has not offered him light-duty employment. For sound policy reasons, the workers’ compensation system encourages an injured employee who is still able to perform light-duty work to continue working for his current employer until he reaches maximum medical improvement and then, if possible, to return to his previous position. Therefore, while a claimant must prove disability, he is not required to prove he could not find employment with another employer in order to receive temporary disability benefits. Rather, the claimant satisfies his burden by proving work restrictions that prevent him from performing his regular job and the unavailability of light-duty employment through the same employer.

Id.

Substantial evidence supports the Commission’s finding that Rose is entitled to ongoing temporary total disability compensation until he reaches MMI. The should be affirmed.

B. Lump sum payment of accrued compensation.

The reference to a lump sum payment for temporary total disability compensation refers to the period during Rose II when Appellants terminated Rose’s compensation. Per the documents filed with the Commission, Appellants paid TTD from August 8, 2011 before terminating compensation on January 9, 2014. [Form 18 dated 2/8/19]. At the time, Appellants would have been within their rights to stop the payments as of September 2, 2014 when Commissioner Taylor issued her Decision and Order dismissing Rose’s case for commencing a third-party action without serving an S-2 on Appellants. [R.P. 19-31]. They jumped the gun by terminating compensation on January 9, 2014.

As of this writing, Appellants have begun paying ongoing weekly payments as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 (2007). However, they never paid the compensation accrued from

January 10, 2014 through the date payments resumed in 2019.

Once this Court reversed the dismissal and reinstated Rose's claim in Rose II, Appellants were required to pay the accrued compensation and restart ongoing weekly payments. This is because once the order of Commissioner Taylor and the following Appellate Panel Order had been reversed, those orders became a nullity. The orders effectively no longer exist and were stripped of any effect. See Moore v. N. Am. Van Lines, 319 S.C. 446, 448, 462 S.E.2d 275, 276 (1995) ("When the award of the Commission was reversed . . . it became of no effect and was no longer in existence."). The parties were restored to their positions *status quo ante*. The previous Appellate Panel order requiring ongoing compensation payments controlled, thus Appellants were liable to comply with that order.¹¹ The order to pay *accrued* benefits is not an order to pay a future lump sum; it is an order to pay improperly withheld past due benefits in a lump sum.

Appellants argue that they were deprived of due process because they were not able to present evidence that Rose "has been working and earning wages consistently since September 23, 2013." [Brief of Appellants, page 35], Of course there is no such evidence because Rose has not been working. Appellants merely raise this as a hypothetical example of the supposed injury they have suffered due to their own aforementioned trial strategy. If such evidence did exist, Appellants have always had the ability to file a motion to submit after-discovered evidence with the Commission. The fact they have not is telling.

The Commission's order requiring payment of accrued compensation and ongoing temporary total disability compensation is legally correct and supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, the Decision and Order of the Full Commission should be affirmed.

¹¹A separate action is being filed at the Commission to enforce the May 13, 2013 order and require payment of the arrearage, as well as requiring ongoing medical treatment as set forth in § 42-17-60.

5. There was no procedural, factual or legal basis on which the Commission could address or find this claim was barred by an intervening accident [in Response to Appellants' argument at page 37].

Noting that there was testimony at the hearing that Rose had fallen down a flight of stairs on two occasions when his injured knee gave out, Appellants argue that the Commission erred in failing “to address the legal ramifications of these intervening, non-work-related accidents.” [Brief of Appellants, page 37]. Although they elicited this testimony at the September 23, 2013 hearing, Appellants did not raise an intervening accident issue at the hearing before Commissioner Taylor. [R. P. 241-243]. As such, the issue is not preserved.

Even if the issue was before the Full Commission, there is no basis on which to find there was an intervening accident. The falls took place in November of 2011 and January 2012. [R. P. 269, lines 2-7]. This was *before* the first hearing in this case on May 15, 2012. [order dated 8/23/12], If Appellants were to timely raise this issue, the time to raise it was at the May 2012 hearing; not a year later in 2013. Following the 2012 hearing, the Commission found “Rose sustained an injury by accident to his head, knee, leg back and neck . . .” [Order dated 5/15/13, page 8, Finding of Fact 2]. This finding is the law of the case.

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